68924-0

689340

No. 68924-0

Court of Appeals Division 1 Washington State

LEONARDO C. MARIANO, pro se Plaintiff/Appellant

v.

SWEDISH CARDIAC SURGERY Defendant/Appellee

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Leonardo C. Mariano, pro se

1123 Rainier Av. # 415 Everett, WA 98201 (425) 317-0854 mariano.leonardo@ymail.com

January 5, 2013

I. INTRODUCTION

Leonardo C. Mariano is the plaintiff/appellant in this medical malpractice case.

A naturalized American citizen, he came to the United States in 1991, after retiring as a career economist with the Congress of the Philippines. He was a patient at the Swedish Cardiac Surgery/

Swedish Cardiac Surgery, defendant/appellee, is a member of the Swedish Medical Center. Swedish is the largest non-profit health-care provider in the Greater Seattle Area. Defendant conducted a cardiac diagnostic test and performed a bypass surgery on Plaintiff.

II. ERRORS AND ISSUES

In granting Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment, the trial court ruled that Plaintiff did not have the required <u>expert supports</u> for his claims of a) wrong diagnosis and b) unnecessary heart bypass. The trial court erred when it did not consider the reports of medical tests/procedures and related evidence as expert supports. **ISSUES ARE:**

- A. Reports of major <u>medical tests and procedures</u> and related materials are considered expert supports and admissible in court.
- B. The right artery was <u>wrongly diagnosed</u> as diseased and needed a bypass.

 However, that right artery was already completely damaged and <u>harmless</u> a long time ago and no treatment was required..
- <u>C</u>. A bypass surgery was <u>unnecessarily performed</u> on the left artery which is relatively healthy.
 - <u>D.</u> Summary judgment is <u>not appropriate</u> when there are genuine issues of

materials facts still to be resolved.

- <u>E.</u> The Statute of Limitation starts, not when the event occurred, but when the malpractice was <u>discovered</u>.
 - F. Full and fair hearing denied.
 - G. Irreparable damages resulting from the highly invasive bypass surgery ..

III. FACTS OF THE CASE

1. Medical Evidence.

Plaintiff depended on the following, among 26 exhibits, to support the claims but were completely <u>ignored</u> by the Defendant and by the trial court.

- a). Cardiac catheterization/coronary angiography. (CP p. 124)
- b). Coronary artery bypass graft/CABG. (CP p. 116)
- c). NM myocard spect multi studies rest/stress/adenosine plus walk dual isotope test. (CP p. 108)
- d) Two-dimensional, M-mode echocardiogram with color Dopler. (CP p. 106)
- e) Stress echocardiogram. (CP p. 104)
- f). Rest/stress echocardiogram. (CP p. 102)
- g). Cardiac CT angiography. (CP p. 110)

2. Wrong Diagnosis.

. In its diagnosis (cardiac catheterization), Defendant categorically identified the right artery as the <u>source</u> of Plaintiff's chest discomfort. In his summary letter, Dr. John Petersen stated:

"... now that I know the anatomy with the critical lesion in his <u>right</u> coronary artery that I suspect is the <u>culprit lesion</u> the best approach in this case is with direct coronary revascularization (bypass).... (CP p. 115)

However, no surgery was done on the diagnosed right artery since there was nothing to operate on. Dr. John Gartman, cardiac surgeon who did the bypass, reported that

"... right coronary artery were so hard throughout their length, there was nothing I could do with those..." (CP p. 116)

3. Unnecessary Bypass.

Dr. David Gartman performed an unplanned heart bypass surgery in the LEFT artery:

"... Coronary artery bypass graft x 4 with IMA (left internal mammary artery) to LAD (left anterior descending, to left ventricular extension branch." (CP p. 116)

<u>However</u>, according to Dr. John Petersen, the left artery was not diseased and not a candidate for any surgery, unlike the right artery.

Left Main: Moderate calcification in its lumen but no critical stenosis.

<u>Right coronary artery:</u> Heavily calcified throughout its coursing and an 85 to 90 % stenosis beyond the acute marginal." (CP p. 124)

IV. A R G U M E N T S

SUMMARY AND TERMS OF REFERENCE.

...

The subject matter of this case is medical evidence or expert supports which absence was the reason for the grant of summary judgment. Specifically, Plaintiff will argue that the medical evidence submitted have a direct bearing and relevancy to the two claims of wrong diagnosis and unnecessary bypass. In joining evidence with the two claims, the trial court is being asked to resolve this case on its merit, not thru the

abbreviated trial of summary judgment.

In their arguments, Defendant focused on the words "expert witness' and "expert testimony" while the trial court adopted the words "expert supports" and "expert opinion. For this brief, Plaintiff uses the words "medical evidence", defined for this purpose as anything which supports or rejects a prior conclusion or finding and is backed by an experienced doctor or reputable organization.

Plaintiff is not assisted by a lawyer, nor by a medical consultant. Unemployed due to poor health since the bypass operation seven years ago Plaintiff cannot afford to hire any.

A. MEDICAL EVIDENCE.

- 1. <u>Res ipsa loquitor</u>. Claims of wrong diagnosis and unnecessary bypass are supported by three major reports: a) cardiac catheterization/coronary arteriogram (diagnosis) by Dr. John Petersen (CP p. 124), b) coronary artery bypass graft by Dr. David Gartman (CP p. 116) and c) letter summarizing the diagnosis by Dr. Petersen (CP p. 115)Exh.
- I). These three documents have two things in common.
 - a). All are owned by the Defendant itself, who is under estoppel from issuing any challenge or objection for their admissibility in court.
 - b). All <u>speak for themselves</u> in a straight-forward manner, with no room for different interpretations.
 - ".... The <u>res ipsa loquitor</u> doctrine allows the jury to infer negligence where <u>three elements</u> are met: (1) the accident or occurrence producing the injury is of a kind which ordinarily does not occur absent someone's negligence; (2) the injuries were caused by an agency or instrumentality within the control of the dependant; and (3) the injury-causing accident or occurrence was not due to any voluntary action or contribution on the part of the Plaintiff.

 <u>Pacheco v. Ames</u>, 149 Wn.2d 431, 436, 69.P.39, 324 (2003)

Since all elements are met, the doctrine of *res ipsa loquitor* is applicable to the claim of wrong diagnosis. On the 2nd and 3rd elements, the injury was caused solely by Defendant while Plaintiff had no part at all. On the 1st element, the issue is not HOW but WHY regarding the diagnosis and bypass. Even with negligence, it is not usual for a diagnosis to be way off the mark and for an operation to be done on an artery which is not a candidate for a bypass. These events do not ordinarily occur and they were reported by Dependant's Dr. Petersen and Dr. Gartman themselves

Defendant evaded the issue concerning the three above three elements of the doctrine with this passing general comment:

- ".... there is no evidence that the injuries claimed by Mr. Mariano are of the type that ordinarily does not happen without negligence. Without knowing the professional standard of care for the health care provider performing cardiac bypass surgery, or diagnosing a heart condition, a layman would not be capable of determining, that Mr. Mariano's claimed injury would have occurred absent negligence." (CP p. 11 12).
- 2. <u>Legal citations</u>. Plaintiff will w show how the submitted medical evidence play a convincing role in supporting the claims of wrong diagnosis and unnecessary bypass.
 Firstly, the trial Court's rejection of all the medical evidence presented by Plaintiff is not supported by the following:

"The Plaintiff may obtain from the Dependant, testifying as an adverse witness, the required expert testimony" Douglas v. Freeman, 117 Wn.2d 242, 250, 814 P.2d 1160 (1991).

[&]quot;Medical records are generally are relevant and admissible in a medical malpractice trial." Bell v. State, 147Wn2d 166, 181, 52 P.3d 502 (2002).

[&]quot;Reports of lab test results contained in the physician's medical file are admissibleRCW 5.45.020.

Defendant further held that the testimony of an expert witness is a <u>must</u> requirement in any medical malpractice case:

"... Court Rule (CR 11), together with the statutory requirements under RCW 7.70, compel you to have supporting testimony from a qualified medical expert witness PRIOR to filing a medical malpractice lawsuit."

Defendant's Email to Plaintiff dated October 12, 2011

After examining said CR 11 and RCW 7.70, also Rules 26 to 37. on deposition and discovery and parallel LCR's, Plaintiff found no such injunctions.

A similar message is shown in another email:

"... if you provide me with the name of an expert witness supporting your claim at any time before the hearing, I will likely <u>strike</u> the hearing (on the summary judgment motion". <u>Defendant's Email to Plaintiff</u> dated January 13, 2012.

Defendant narrowly defined expert support as the testimony of a person, a witness, to the exclusion of any written materials. The undue importance Defendant gives to this testimony is understandable as a matter of court strategy. Plaintiff simply cannot pay the fee of an expert witness who usually charges \$ 450 an hour, over at least 7 hours, two hours to review the case file and five hours to attend the hearings. As shown in two court citations below, the expert testimony is overrated:

"(Expert testimony) is not required when medical facts are observable by a layman's senses and describable without medical training." McLaughlin v. Cooke, 112 Wn.2d 829, 838, 774 P.2d 1171 (1989).

[&]quot;A malpractice case may be proved without the aid of expert testimony by a chain of circumstances from which an ordinary layman may reasonably and naturally infer the ultimate fact required to be established". Shellenbarger v. Brigman, 101 Wn. App. 339, 347, 3 P.3 211 (2000)

B. WRONG DIAGNOSIS.

- 1. Admission. In its attempt to justify its action, <u>Defendant inadvertently</u>

 <u>admitted</u> the error with these words in <u>Defendant's Answers to Plaintiff's First Set of</u>

 <u>Interrogatories, October 4,2011, p.2:</u>
 - " coronary right artery were so damaged that they could not be salvaged or used in connection with the bypass procedure to establish coronary revascularization." (Appendix E)

The quotation is also incriminating for the Defendant if the intention was to use part of the right artery to serve as a graft <u>vessel</u> for the bypass in the unplanned left artery. That would have been unusual. The primary sources for any graft are the saphenous vein from the leg and the internal mammary artery from the inner wall of thechest. As diagnosed, the right artery was targeted for surgery because it was diseased. It was not meant to supply a graft for the bypass in the left artery.

- 2. <u>Reliance.</u> Defendant used coronary angiography as a diagnostic tool which, <u>however</u>, was not reliable in determining the cause of Plaintiff's heart problems:
 - "... While angiography is an accurate test that provides extensive information, it doesn't always provide the specific information your physician is looking for. For example abnormalities in the coronary arteries may be found in the coronary angiogram, but these abnormalities may not be the cause of your chest pain..." Mayo Clinic Heart Book, p. 262 (2000). (Appendix A)
- 3. <u>Multiple Treatments.</u> Defendant did not consider whether Plaintiff's other medical ailments had contributed to his heart problems. The wake-up symptom for an impending heart attack was intense pain which radiates to other parts of the body <u>which Plaintiff did not experience</u>. (CP p.113) Rather his symptoms were basically shortness of breath and chest discomfort. Thus, Plaintiff was referred to other

doctors: Dr. George Cox on acid reflux and hiatal hernia, Dr. Michael Tamber on thyroid nodules, Dr. Ronald Green on lung lesions, Dr. Michael Millie on gallstone Dr. Frank Sheridan on the heart, Dr. Neale Smith on the heart and Dr. John Lank on diabetes and blood pressure.

- 4. <u>Contemporary Findings.</u> Defendant ignored other studies by several veteran cardiologists, discussed below, that Plaintiff's <u>right</u> artery was relatively healthy which contradict the dire assessment of Defendant. Essentially, there was free flow of blood in the arteries of the heart. Defendant violated a major provision of <u>RCW 7.70.040</u>:
 - " exercise that degree of care, skill, and learning expected of a reasonably prudent health care at that time in the profession or class to which he belongs, in the State of Washington, <u>acting</u> in the same or similar circumstances.
- a). In the Nuclear Scan Myocard Spect Rest/Stress done on August 11, 2005
 (eight months before the bypass), Dr. Neale Smith of Western Washington Medical
 Group reported:
 - ".... no ischemia is identified. nuclear medicine portion showed normal left ventricular systolic function...." (CP p. 108)
- b). In the Stress Test done January 20, 2003, Dr. Frank Sheridan of the Everett Clinic reported:
 - " patient was able to exercise for 9 minutes without any chest pain.... this test is interpreted as negative for ischemia. (CP p. 103)
- c). In the echocardiogram test done January 19, 2000, Dr. Kirk Prindle of the Everett Clinic reported:
 - " No evidence of reversible coronary artery blood flow

abnormalities He falls into the lowest possible risk group.... the likelihood of having a normal life expectancy is superb." (CP p. 102))

C. UNNECESSARY BYPASS.

- 1. <u>Appropriateness.</u> According to Mayo Clinic (Appendix A, p.), coronary bypass surgery is an option if:
 - "* You have severe <u>chest pain</u> caused by narrowing of several of the arteries
 - * You have more than one diseased coronary artery and the heart's main pump the <u>left ventricle</u> is not functioning well.
 - * Your <u>left main coronary artery</u> is severely narrowed or blocked. This artery supplies most of the blood to the left ventricle.

The unplanned bypass on the left artery done by Defendant was unnecessary because none of the above conditions were met.

Re main left artery above. In the coronary angiography Dr. John Petersen stated that this artery had only "moderate calcification in its lumen but no critical stenosis". (CP p. 124)

Re left ventricle above. In the echocardiogram, Dr. Neale Smith of the Western Washington Medical Group stated: "... The left ventricle is normal in size....There are no wall motion abnormalities." (CP p. 106)

Re chest pain above. Plaintiff had no severe chest pain, only shortness of breath. In his evaluation report dated March 21, 2006, Dr. John Petersen stated: "... It has not been a radiating pain. It does not go t the jaw or down the arms. (CP p. 113))

None of the three conditions above were met. Meaning, the left artery is not a

candidate for a bypass.

2. <u>Consent.</u> Two Washington State laws expressly prescribe that medical procedures, such as bypass artery, angioplasty, among others, cannot proceed without the informed consent of the patient:

".... in no event shall the provisions of this section apply to an action based on the failure to obtain the informed consent of a patient." RCW 4.24.290.

Medical liability can be established if "... the injury resulted from Health care to which the patient or his representative did not consent." RCW 7.70.030

Plaintiff signed the consent form for a bypass which is worded in the assigned blank spaces as follows:

Blocked heart blood vessels. (coronary artery disease).....coronary artery bypass graft)." (CP p. 132)

The above citation is <u>not a blanket mandate</u> for Defendant to operate in all arteries of the heart. It must be stressed that the diagnostic test identified <u>only</u> the right artery needing treatment. (CP p. 115). <u>The left artery could not be included because</u> it was relatively normal. (CP p. 124) Further, in the topic bypass protocol immediately above, the left artery did not meet all the conditions for a bypass surgery.

Printed in the consent form, not in a blank space, two pieces of advice are directed to Plaintiff before signing:

"Washington State law guarantees that you both have the right and obligation and obligation to make decisions concerning your health care. Your physician can provide you with the necessary information and advice, but as a member of the health care team, you must enter into the decision making process." (CP p. 132)

"I (Plaintiff) have the right to decide whether to accept or refuse medical care. I will ask for any information I want to have about my medical care and will make my wishes known" (CP p. 132, back side of form.)

A brief background will clear such wishes. Defendant was approached for a second opinion due to two contrasting findings. Dr.Neale Smith reported the absence of ischemia. (CP p. 108) while Dr. Frank Sullivan recommended angioplasty/stent for the damaged right artery. (CP p. 110) Plaintiff made known in no uncertain term decision to exclude the highly invasive bypass surgery due to a higher risk from old age (76 years old at that time). Moreover, the less invasive angioplasty (PTCA) or stent was preferred in case treatment was necessary.

There has been a running debate on which is the better procedure - bypass or stent. The Everett Clinic (where Plaintiff is a patient) has long been an advocate of the latter (CP p. 137)As pointed out by Mayo Clinic (CP p. 134), the extremely invasive bypass operation is appropriate only in cases of severe and multiple blood blockages. The No. 1 ranked heart hospital in the United States, John Hopkins, has pointed out several advantages of stent over bypass as shown in Appendix C.

In the consent form to perform diagnosis, the treatment tool was described in the following words:

"Coronary Arteriogram.....Possible Angioplasty/Stent. (CP p. 133)

For reasons detailed with expert supports/opinion in two topics below, Plaintiff's wishes were not carried out.

3. <u>Suppression of Evidence</u>. Defendant failed to comply with the provision of <u>RCW 7.70.050 (1)</u> which will be cited in full because of its importance in establishing

informed consent:

- "(1) The following shall be the <u>necessary elements of proof</u> that injury resulted from health care in a civil negligence case of arbitration involving the issue of the alleged breach of the duty to secure an informed consent by a patient or his representative against a health care provider:
 - (a) That the health care provider failed to inform the patient of a <u>material fact or facts</u> related to the treatment;
 - (b) That the patient consented to the treastment without being aware of or fully informed of such material fact or facts;
 - (c) That a reasonably prudent patient under similar circumstances would not have consented to the treatment if informed of such material fact or facts;
 - (d) That the treatment in question proximately <u>caused</u> injury to the patient.

The fact suppressed was the final report on the diasgnostic cardiac catheterization done by Dr. John Petersen on March 30, 2006. (CP p. 124) After numerous demands for its release, this report was received only on April 27, 2011 or five years later, precisely because of its incriminating content. As stated earlier, the left main artery had "moderate calcification in its lumen but no critical stenosis." In sharp contrast, the right main artery was found to be "heavily calcified throughout its coursing and an 85 to 90 % stenosis." Meaning, there was a good reason to target the right artery for a bypass but no reason at all to subject the left artery to an unnecessary surgery.

4. <u>Under Duress.</u> Plaintiff signed the consent form under duress on March 30, 2006, while still groggy from his diagnostic cardiac catheterizaton. The diagnosis started on 12:24 pm and ended a few hours later. (CP p. 124). At the 3:45 pm of the same.

afternoon, Plaintiff signed the form. (CP p. 132)

D. SUMMARY JUDGMENT

This case was dismissed with the grant of Defendant's Motion for Summary

Judgment. This issue is now being revisited since it is becoming more and more clearer
that the court still has to resolved several controversial issues <u>already extensively</u>

<u>discussed</u> in this Brief. These are the following:

- 1. Statute of Limitation
- 2. Informed Consent
- 3. Res ipsa loquitor
- 4. Wrong Diagnosis.
- 5. Unnecessary Bypass

CR 56 (c) allows summary judgment only in the total absence of genuine issues of material facts. This is elaborated by this court decision"

"Summary Judgment is not appropriate in a medical malpractice action, however, a reasonable person could infer, from the facts, circumstances, and medical testimony, that a casual connection exists." Shellenbarger v. Brigman, 101 Wn.App. 339, 348, 3 P.3d 211 (2000)

Defendant has the burden to <u>challenge</u> the facts described by Plaintiff on the above five controversial issues

"...To support a motion for summary judgment, the moving party is required to at least set out its version of the facts and allege that there is no genuine issue as to the facts as set out." Guile v. Ballard Community Hospital, 70 Wn.App. 18, 21, 851 P.2d 689 (1993)

In evaluating the respective arguments of both parties, the trial court is enjoined

to give preferential treatment to Plaintiff as the nonmoving party.

"... The evidence and inferences therefrom presented by the nonmoving party must be examined in the light most favorable to that party." Young and Key Pharmaceutical, Inc., 112 Wn.2d 216, 226,770 P.2d 182 (1989)

E. STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS

The basic law governing the period within which a person can file a lawsuit is RCW 4.16.350:

"... imposes a three-year statute of limitations on medical malpractice action." Webb v. Nueroeducation, Inc., 121 Wn.App. 336, 343, 88 P.2d 417 (2004)

The same law and court decisions, however, provides an exception to the general rule.

- "... allows the action to be brought no later than one year after the time the patient of his representative <u>discovered</u> or reasonably should have discovered that the injury or condition was caused by such act or omission." <u>RCW4.16.350(3)</u>
- "... provides a discovery rule that can allow a medical malpractice action to be brought later than the three-year period."

 Winbun v. Moore, 143 Wn.2d 206,214, 18 P.3d 576 (2000)

The discovery happened just after April 27, 2011 when Plaintiff's follow-up letter asking questions about the bypass <u>remained unanswered</u>, after numerous demands:

"An answer to the issue is all I need to erase my doubt about the bypass. During the many years of my recovery, <u>I had been at peace</u> with the outcome. However, lately after reading all the available reports on the operation, I am now uneasy. (CP p. 122).

Earlier, in the October 30, 2009, letter, Plaintiff asked why the left artery was operated on when the diagnosis identified the right artery needing surgery.

"...purpose of this letter is to seek your opinion.....what major damages in the left side of the heart did you find and fix during the operation? (CP p. 121).

Not having received any answer from the two letters discussed above may be interpreted as admission. Consequently, the Complaint was filed on May 2. 2011, well within the period prescribed by the Statute of Limitations.

Before the follow-up letter of April 24, 2011, <u>Plaintiff considered the bypass</u> operation a success (CP p. 121) and no misgivings about the operation was contemplated. When Dependant continued to refuse to answer a simple question of WHY a bypass was done on the left artery, doubts about the operation emerged.

When Defendant argues that the statute was violated, it carries assuming the burden of proof.

"... Violation of a statute of limitations period is an <u>affirmative</u> <u>defense</u> and the burden of proof to establish a violation is on the Party asserting the violation. <u>Estate of Sly v. Linville</u>, 75 Wn.App. 431, 436, 878 P.2d 1241 (1994)

F. FULL AND FAIR HEARING DENIED

Plaintiff was denied his day in court. The decision to dismiss the medical malpractice case was rushed in only one session, lasting about 18 minutes. Also, no special consideration was given to Plaintiff's hearing problem. Worst, the proceeding was not recorded.

1. By Defendant

- a). Plaintiff served notice that Dr. John Petersen (cardiac diagnostician) and Dr. David Gartman (cardiac surgeon) would be deposed as hostile witnesses. Their testimonies, through deposition, were crucial because they have <u>personal knowledge</u> of the case. Earlier Plaintiff received only vague and general answers from two sets of interrogatories. However, the depositions were aborted with the filing of the summary judgment motion.
- b). Defendant demanded the deposition of a witness but later changed its mind because his testimony was incriminating.. Dr. Harold Dash is chair of the Cardiology Department of Everett Clinic; he was Plaintiff's attending cardiologist. Long before the Complaint was filed, Dr. Dash was ready to answer why the diseased right artery was already harmless and needed no treatment. (CP p. 137) and that, Plaintiff had a silent heart attack decades ago which completely damaged the right arteries. After which, corollary arteries took over the function of the diseased right artery, thus ensuring the free flow of blood. Defendant changed its mind about deposing Dr. Dash.

B. By Trial Court.

As stated earlier, Plaintiff was not given his day in court. The 18-minute trial was mostly consumed by the trial judge after both parties summarized their respective stands on the issues. The <u>trial judge did not pose any question at all</u>, but instead gave a long explanation of his thinking about the case. Plaintiff had the impression then that it was only the period for opening statements and that the arguments and counterarguments would come next. It was the Defendant's attorney who called to the attention

of Plaintiff that the trial was over. A very recent decision of the U.S. Court of Appeals, Ninth Circuit, holds:

The trial judge emphasized the absence of not only expert medical testimonies but also of legal representation. One option mentioned was to hire a lawyer on a contingency basis. Plaintiff did contact several earlier and most declined to take medical malpractice and discrimination cases. The trial judge pointed out the handicaps a pro se litigant has to carry in a court case because of legal technicalities. Since the court subtlely ruled that a medical malpractice case is too complex for a layman, Plaintiff assured the court the fear was misplaced in view of Plaintiff's vast experience in legal research and analysis in the Congress of the Philippines as head of its economic planning office.

Below is a decision of the U.S. Supreme Court which is reassuring:

".... As the Court unanimously held in Haines v. Kerner, 404 U.S 519 (1972), a pro se complaint, 'however in artfully pleaded' must be held to 'less stringent standards than formal pleading drafted by lawyers'...." Estelle, Correction Director, et al. v. Gample 29 U.S. 97

Because of his hearing impediment, Plaintiff was unable to understand the rulings of the trial judge who spoke in a hurried pace. Plaintiff did not dare interrupt for clarification for fear of sanctions, hoping for an opportunity at a later stage. But, the trial ended abruptly

The courtroom was a mess. Two cases were scheduled on the same day and at the

and time. This may be the reason why the trial judge conducted the hearing in a rush manner. The lawyers of the other case were already seated in the table reserved for litigants. The Mariano/Swedish parties presented their arguments, standing up, in front of the rostrum.

Worst, the 18-minute hearing was not recorded. Plaintiff, with a hearing problem, was banking on the transcript to understand fully the words spoken by the trial judge. In an appellate case, the reasons for the decision of the trial judge, should be subjected to full disclosure.

Plaintiff sought a continuance of Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment for two good reasons, among others During the discovery period, potential evidence were identified but suppressed by Defendant. One was the crucial testimonies of Dr. Petersen and Dr. Gartman as stated earlier, because of their <u>personal knowledge</u> of the issues.

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