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

IV. ARGUMENT 

A. The Trial Court's Dismissal of Mr. Mariano's Complaint is 
Reviewed de Novo 

Appellate review of a trial court's decision on summary judgment 

is de novo. Troxell v. Rainier Pub. Sch. Dist. No. 307. 154 Wash.2d 345, 

350, 111 P.3d 1173 (2005) (citing Castro v. Stanwood Sch. Dist. No. 401, 
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151 Wn.2d 221, 224, 86 P.3d 1166 (2004». A motion for summary 

judgment is properly granted where "there is no genuine issue as to any 

material fact and .. . the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter 

of law." CR 56(c). Here, there is no question that Mr. Mariano failed to 

raise a genuine issue of material fact with regard to his medical negligence 

claim. 

B. The Trial Court Did Not Err in Dismissing Mr. Mariano's 
Medical Negligence Claims for Failure to Meet his Burden of 
Proof 

In an action claiming injuries caused by negligent healthcare, Mr. 

Mariano was required to establish that the "injury resulted from the failure 

of a healthcare provider to follow the accepted standard of care." RCW 

7.70.030(1). To meet his burden and to make a prima facie case for 

medical negligence, Mr. Mariano had to produce evidence to show (1) that 

the defendant failed to exercise the degree of care, skill, and learning 

expected of a reasonably prudent practitioner in the state of Washington; 

and (2) that such failure was a proximate cause of the claimed injuries. 

RCW 7.70.040; Miller v. Jacoby, 145 Wn.2d 65, 72, 33 P.3d 68 (2001); 

Berger v. Sonneland, 144 Wn.2d 91 , 111,26 P.3d 257 (2001). 

Expert testimony is generally required to establish the standard of 

care and causation in healthcare negligence cases. Berger, 144 Wn.2d at 

110-11 . Because of the plaintiff's burden in this regard, a defendant 
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moving for summary judgment in a healthcare negligence action is entitled 

to dismissal if the plaintiff is unable to, or does not present admissible, 

competent medical expert testimony based on a foundation in fact to 

establish the standard of care, its breach, and causation. See Young v. 

Key Pharmaceutical, Inc., 112 Wn.2d 216, 226-27, 770 P.2d 182 (1989); 

see also Guile v. Ballard Community Hospital, 70 Wn. App. 18,25, 851 

P.2d 689, review denied, 122 Wn.2d 1010 (1993). When a defendant 

asserts (such as here) that plaintiff lacks competent expert testimony with 

sufficient factual foundation to establish the necessary elements of 

plaintiff's claims, the burden then shifts to the plaintiff to present 

testimony from a qualified expert alleging specific facts that establish a 

cause of action. Guile v. Ballard Community Hospital, 70 Wn. App. 18, 

25,851 P.2d 689 (1993) (citing Young, 112 Wn.2d at 226-27). 

1. No Supporting Testimony from Qualified Expert Witness 

In this case, Mr. Mariano failed to present or even identify competent 

expert testimony based on a foundation in fact that would establish the 

standard of care, its breach, and causation. See, APPENDIX A 001-015 

(Plaintiff's Response to Motion for Summary Judgment). Mr. Mariano 

failed to produce evidence that any of the care and treatment provided to him 

fell below the applicable standard of care, he provided no definition of the 

applicable standard of care, and he offered no expert testimony to establish 
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that the care and treatment provided to him was the cause in fact or in law of 

any alleged injury. Id. Where the plaintiff fails to present expert testimony 

satisfying the burden of proof on each of the issues of breach of duty and 

proximate cause, the case must be decided in the moving party's favor as a 

matter of law. 

Rather than presenting witness testimony, Mr. Mariano identified his 

current treating cardiologist and another cardiologist who treated him prior 

to the subject surgery as providers who may testify in this case. [CP 39-40]. 

He did not, however, present any proof that these providers are actually 

involved in this case as expert witnesses and that they will offer opinions 

supporting his claims. See, APPENDIX A 001-015 (Plaintiff's Response to 

Motion for Summary Judgment). There has never been any indication that 

these providers intend to take on a forensic role in this case, in fact the 

communication between Mr. Mariano and his providers, and from Mr. 

Mariano to defense counsel suggests otherwise. [CP 97-98, CP 126, CP 127, 

CP 26-30]. There is no indication that these providers intend to offer any 

testimony in support of Mr. Mariano's allegations. [CP 97-98, CP 126, CP 

127, CP 26-30]. 

Because Mr. Mariano failed to present any competent medical 

evidence to support his claims of health care negligence, his claims were 

appropriately dismissed. [CP 36-37]. As a matter of long-standing 
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Washington law, his appeal should also be dismissed on the merits. RAP 

18.14. 

2. No Proof of Informed Consent Claim 

Under Washington law, Mr. Mariano's allegations regarding 

informed consent also required more than his own, bare allegations. 

Informed consent claims require expert testimony. RCW 7.70.050(3); Smith 

v. Shannon, 100 Wn.2d 26,33,666 P.2d 351 (1983). Mr. Mariano signed a 

consent form regarding the bypass surgery. [APPENDIX A 008]. Mr. 

Mariano's purported misunderstanding of his medical condition at the time 

of surgery does not provide appropriate evidentiary support for an informed 

consent, or any other medical negligence lawsuit. Because Mr. Mariano 

presented nothing but his own commentary and beliefs regarding his claims, 

his lawsuit was properly dismissed and a motion on the merits is also 

appropriate. 

3. The Doctrine of Res Ipsa Loquitur Does Not Apply Here 

Although it has been asserted by Mr. Mariano, the doctrine of res 

ipsa loquitur does not apply to the claims in this case. The law governing 

such a claim is equally well-settled. The doctrine of res ipsa loquitur is 

applicable only when an "'occurrence is of itself sufficient to establish 

prima Jacie the fact of negligence on the part of the defendant, without 

further or direct proof thereof.'" Tinder v. Nordstrom, Inc., 84 Wn. App. 
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787,791,929 P.2d 1209 (1997) (quoting Morner v. Union Pac. R.R. Co., 

31 Wn.2d 282,291, 196 P.2d 744 (1948». For the doctrine to apply, in a 

healthcare negligence case, the Appellant must establish that: 

(1) [T]he occurrence producing the injury 
must be of a kind which ordinarily does not 
occur in the absence of negligence, (2) the 
lllJury is caused by an agency or 
instrumentality within the exclusive control 
of the defendant; and (3) the injury-causing 
occurrence must not be due to any 
contribution on the part of the plaintiff. 

Miller v. Jacoby, 145 Wn.2d 65, 74-75, 33 P.3d 68 (2001); Howell v. 

Spokane & Inland Empire Blood Bank, 114 Wn.2d 42, 58, 785 P.2d 815 

(1990)(quoting Jackson v. Criminal Justice Training Comm'n, 43 Wn. 

App. 827, 829-30, 720 P.2d 457(1986». Moreover, "[r]es ipsa loquitur is 

ordinarily sparingly applied, 'in peculiar and exceptional cases, and only 

where the facts and the demands of justice make its application essential.'" 

Tinder, 84 Wn. App. at 792 (quoting Morner, 31 Wn.2d at 293). 

Here, Mr. Mariano claimed that his heart bypass surgery was 

somehow inappropriate in scope. [CP 3-6]. Given the facts of the case, 

Mr. Mariano is and was unable to demonstrate that res ipsa loquitur 

applies to this claim. Under Washington law, it does not. As a starting 

point, there is no evidence that any injury claimed by Mr. Mariano are of a 

type that ordinarily does not happen without negligence. Without 
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knowing the professional standard of care for a health care provider 

performing cardiac bypass surgery, or diagnosing a heart condition, a 

layperson would not be capable of determining that Mr. Mariano's 

claimed injury would not have occurred absent negligence. 

Next, given Mr. Mariano's stated claims, there is no basis to 

conclude that the alleged instrumentality causing the "injury" claimed by 

him was within the exclusive control of Swedish. Finally, this is not a 

peculiar or exceptional circumstance. It is a typical healthcare negligence 

claim and res ipsa loquitur cannot supply an inference of negligence by 

Swedish. It is and was Mr. Mariano's burden to present expert testimony 

supporting each of his claims against the defendant in this case in order to 

proceed. Because Mr. Mariano did not and cannot do so, summary 

dismissal of this case was appropriate, as is a motion on the merits to 

affirm the trial court's decision. 

4. No Evidence of Damages Related to Alleged Negligence 

Mr. Mariano claims - without any medical support - that the bypass 

of his left coronary artery was somehow inappropriate. However, he admits 

that as of October 2009 (more than three years after the subject bypass 

surgery) "the bypass operation was a success." [APPENDIX A 002]. He 

has no demonstrable damages. Instead, Mr. Mariano now claims that 

because he felt answers to his questions about the surgery were "evasive" he 
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personall y decided that there must be a basis for a medical negligence claim. 

[APPENDIX A 002] . Based on Mr. Mariano's own admissions, he is not 

critical of the care provided - the surgery was a success. Rather, he is 

actually critical of the answers to his questions. This does not provide the 

basis for a viable medical negligence claim - particularly here where Mr. 

Mariano has no expert testimony to support a negligence claim of any kind. 

Mr. Mariano failed to present evidence of an actual claim or damage, first to 

the trial court, and now on appeal. Affirmation of the Trial Court's Order 

Granting Summary Judgment is appropriate. 

v. CONCLUSION 

Swedish respectfully requests that this Court affirm the Trial 

Court's decision dismissing Mr. Mariano's claims in their entirety because 

Mr. Mariano failed to come forward with admissible evidence sufficient to 

meet his burden on this medical negligence claim. 

. 1J-